DEC 29 2017
WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 12/21/2017 2:02 PM

95342-2

48583-4-II

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

K.H., as guardian for her minor daughter D.H.; K.H. and G.H. individually,

Plaintiffs-Petitioners,

VS.

#### OLYMPIA SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Defendant-Respondent.

#### PETITION FOR REVIEW

Darrell L. Cochran, WSBA No. 22851
Christopher E. Love, WSBA No. 42832
Counsel for Petitioners

PFAU COCHRAN VERTETIS AMALA, PLLC 911 Pacific Avenue, Suite 200 Tacoma, Washington 98402 (253) 777-0799

#

#### I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONERS

Petitioners D.H., a disabled minor, and her mother and father K.H. and G.H., respectively, ask this Court to accept review of the decision designated in Part II below.

#### II. THE DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

The Petitioners before this Court consist of a young, special needs girl with cognitive and communicative disabilities sexually abused by an Olympia School District ("District") bus driver and serial pedophile, Gary Shafer ("Shafer"), and her horrified and emotionally traumatized parents. At trial, on Petitioners' negligence suit solely against the District, the jury heard undisputed testimony from Shafer himself regarding his fondling and licking of D.H.'s genitals while on District busses. As the Court of Appeals acknowledged, the jury also heard from the District's own damages expert that, at a minimum, D.H. had demonstrated emotional distress the afternoon following one instance of abuse, immediately after being dropped off by the bus; indeed, D.H. acknowledged this period of distress with the statement, "Why that man touch my bottom?" As the Court of Appeals further acknowledged, the jury heard uncontroverted evidence of both parents' anguish after learning of Shafer's abuse of their daughter.

The trial court's Instruction 19 told the jury that it was required to segregate and not award damages caused solely by Shafer, despite Petitioners' objections that the instruction was inconsistent with *Tegman*<sup>2</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Report of Proceedings Volume 7 ("7 RP") at 1231.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Tegman v. Accident & Med. Investigators, Inc., 150 Wn.2d 102, 75 P.3d 497 (2003).

and *Rollins*<sup>3</sup>; unwarranted given the other instructions before the jury; and potentially confusing and misleading given its negative phrasing, defense-oriented slant, and redundancy.

Consistent with this uncontroverted evidence, the jury returned unchallenged special verdict interrogatory answers finding the District was negligent and grossly negligent and that such negligence proximately caused "injury or damage" to each Petitioner. Shockingly inconsistent with both the evidence and these findings, however—but unsurprising given Instruction 19—the jury awarded Petitioners nothing—not even a single dollar—despite D.H.'s undisputed sexual abuse and Petitioners' resultant emotional pain and suffering.<sup>4</sup> In denying Petitioners' motion for a new damages trial, the trial court ruled that the jury could have concluded that Petitioners failed to prove their damages or relied on Instruction 19 to award zero damages.

In affirming the trial court, the Court of Appeals held that the jury's unchallenged findings of gross negligence, negligence, and proximate cause of "injury or damage" and uncontroverted evidence of damages were nonetheless reconcilable with its award of no damages because the jury was entitled to disregard the uncontroverted evidence of D.H.'s sexual abuse and, as to Petitioners' other damages, the jury could have concluded that those damages were too "insignificant" or did not "rise to the level . . . that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Rollins v. King County Metro Transit, 148 Wn. App. 370, 199 P.3d 499, review denied, 166 Wn.2d 1025 (2009).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> A copy of the complete jury special verdict form is provided in the appendices to this petition. Appendix A; Clerk's Papers ("CP") at 6447-49.

would merit a damages recovery." *K.H. for D.H. v. Olympia Sch. Dist.*, 200 Wn. App. 1028, 2017 WL 3601888, at \* 9-11 (Wash. Ct. App. Div. II Aug. 22, 2017).

The Court of Appeals also held that the trial court properly gave Instruction 19, concluding that *Rollins* "held that it was not misleading to give" the instruction, thus approving its general use and specific, negative phrasing. *K.H.*, 2017 WL 3601888, at \* 12. For the following reasons, both holdings conflict with numerous decisions of this Court and the Court of Appeals and raise multiple issues of substantial public interest, requiring review by this Court. RAP 13.4 (b)(1), (b)(2), (b)(4).

#### III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- A. Should review be granted under RAP 13.4 (b)(1) and (b)(2) because the Court of Appeals' holding in this case that the jury's award of no damages is reconcilable with its unchallenged findings of gross negligence, negligence, and proximate cause of "injury or damage" and uncontroverted evidence of sexual abuse and resultant emotional pain and suffering damages conflicts with decisions of this Court and of the Court of Appeals upholding a right to recover general damages under these circumstances?
- B. Should review be granted under RAP 13.4 (b)(2) because the Court of Appeals' holding that Instruction 19 properly instructed the jury on damages segregation even though the intentional tortfeasor was not a party defendant conflicts with the holding in Rollins that this Court's requirement in Tegman regarding damages segregation does not apply under such circumstances because no issue of joint and several liability is presented?
- C. Should review be granted under RAP 13.4 (b)(4) because the Court of Appeals determination upholding the trial court in giving Instruction 19 is of substantial public interest because it affects all tort litigants in Washington, the Court of Appeals' decisions on the issue are now inconsistent, and the Court of Appeals has otherwise acknowledged "considerable confusion" in this general area of the

law?

D. Should review be granted under RAP 13.4(b)(4) because the issue of whether the jury was required to award general damages in the face of its unchallenged special verdict form answers finding fault and proximate cause and the uncontroverted damages evidence is of substantial public interest because it affects all Washington tort litigants?

#### IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Background

At the time she was sexually abused on a District bus, D.H. was a four-year old District student in her second year of preschool who rode a special needs bus route.<sup>5</sup> D.H. has Trisomy X, a genetic condition that results in cognitive and communicative difficulties, particularly "speech problems" with her vocabulary and "trying to get across what she wanted to say." Shafer admitted to molesting D.H. and specifically targeting her because he assumed that, due to her condition, she would be "less likely... to tell on" him. After Shafer's arrest and guilty plea for molesting three other District students, Petitioners sued the District for gross negligence, negligence, and negligent infliction of emotional distress based on the District's failure to prevent Shafer from abusing D.H. K.H., 2017 WL 3601888, at \* 1. Shafer is not a party defendant in this case.

# B. Trial Evidence of the District's Liability and Petitioners' Uncontroverted Damages

For purposes of this petition, Petitioners accept as sufficient the Court of Appeals' recitation of the trial evidence regarding the District's

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> 2 RP at 229; 7 RP at 1225-1226, 1228; CP at 4551-4552.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> 7 RP at 1214-1215, 1227; 8 RP at 1521-1522.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> 2 RP at 325.

liability. K.H., at \* 2.

Regarding damages, Shafer testified he molested D.H. on three separate occasions.<sup>8</sup> He touched her vaginal area through her clothing on the first and second occasions and pulled her pants and underwear down, touched her vaginal area, and attempted to perform oral sex on her on the third occasion.<sup>9</sup>

D.H.'s mother, K.H., testified that on one day in November or December of 2010, when D.H. got off the bus, she was not smiling, which was unusual, and right away D.H. asked her mother, "Why that man touch my bottom?" For the remainder of that afternoon, D.H. was "really upset," "moody," and "off," so much so that D.H.'s father, G.H., returned home early from work out of concern.

The District's damages expert, Dr. Russell Vandenbelt, admitted that one of the instances of Shafer's abuse of D.H. occurred on the day that D.H. was dropped off and asked her mother the above-quoted question.<sup>12</sup> Dr. Vandenbelt further agreed that, at a minimum, D.H. was "upset that afternoon."<sup>13</sup> According to him, this demonstrated that the abuse had "impact[ed]" D.H. and was "upsetting" to her.<sup>14</sup> Finally, although he attempted to minimize D.H.'s emotional distress on this day as

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> 3 RP at 457.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> 2 RP at 322-323, 329; 3 RP at 449-450, 451-57; 9 RP at 1606-1607.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> 7 RP at 1228-1231.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> 7 RP at 1232-1233.

<sup>12 9</sup> RP at 1610-1611.

<sup>13 9</sup> RP at 1611.

<sup>14 8</sup> RP at 1546.

"transient[],"15 he acknowledged:

The best available information in the records is that [DH] really wasn't any different in the immediate time frame following what happened on the bus outside of the afternoon when supposedly something happened and carrying forward.<sup>16</sup>

Thus, even Dr. Vandenbelt testified that, at least for that afternoon, D.H. had manifested emotional distress at the time of and as a result of the bus incident—not her Trisomy X.

Similarly, as acknowledged by the Court of Appeals, the jury heard uncontroverted evidence from multiple witnesses—including Dr. Vandenbelt—that D.H.'s parents had suffered multiple forms of emotional distress, "all of which resulted from [their] understanding of what had happened on the bus."<sup>17</sup>

# C. The Jury Returns an Inconsistent Verdict After the Trial Court's Erroneous Damages Segregation Instruction, Instruction 19

During the initial December 11, 2015 instructions conference, Petitioners objected to the District's proposed instruction 15, the predecessor to the trial court's Instruction 19, arguing that any such damages segregation instruction was improper because it was unwarranted under the facts, law, and other instructions, and due to its negative

<sup>15 8</sup> RP at 1546.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> 8 RP at 1531 (emphases added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> K.H., at \*10 (describing the damages evidence regarding K.H. and G.H. and the District's lack of cross-examination on their damages); see also 7 RP at 1207, 1237, 1274-75 (K.H.'s testimony regarding her various forms of emotional distress and marital problems resulting from her knowledge of D.H.'s sexual abuse); 9 RP at 1631-32 (Dr. Vandenbelt's testimony that K.H. had experienced guilt, anger, anxiety, stress, and heightened depression as a result of D.H.'s sexual abuse); 7 RP at 1354-1355, 1360, 1362 (G.H.'s testimony regarding his specific fear and anxiety resulting from his knowledge of D.H.'s sexual abuse).

phrasing.<sup>18</sup> Specifically, Petitioners argued:

So the plaintiffs have pretty much relied on the WPIs, on just the standard WPIs about what cause is. There is a good cause instruction, for example, that talks about more than one proximate cause can be determined for the same harm. In this case, that would cover the fact that Gary Shafer is the cause of harm while allowing us to argue that the district is a cause of harm as well. So we did not deviate outside the WPIs for that; the district, however, has. 19

The proximate cause instructions that they have proposed are generally phrased in the negative, which is frowned on by the pattern jury instruction committee, which I'm well acquainted with. In other words, they're saying, for example, the jury cannot award damages that are proximately caused by whatever, whatever. Typically in the pattern jury instructions that are adopted by the high court, they want the instruction to be framed in the positive, proximate cause can be found with such and such, and then contain the standard WPI instruction that says there can be more than one proximate cause.

And then it goes on to say, if you find that the defendant has

The cause of an injury or event is a proximate cause if it is related to the injury or event in two ways: (1) the cause produced the injury or event in a direct sequence, and (2) the injury or event would not have happened in the absence of the cause.

There may be more than one proximate cause of the same injury or event. If you find that the defendant was negligent and that such negligence was a proximate cause of injury or damage to the plaintiff, it is not a defense that the act of some other person who is not a party to this lawsuit may also have been a proximate cause.

However, if you find that the sole proximate cause of injury or damage to the plaintiff was the act of some other person who is not a party to this lawsuit then your verdict should be for the defendant.

CP at 6436 (emphasis added); Appendix B. As Petitioners argued below, this instruction was both consistent with controlling Washington law and sufficient for the District to argue its theory that Shafer, not the District, caused Petitioners' damages.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> 7 RP at 1368, 1380; 10 RP at 1911, 2004, 2055, 2186; 11 RP at 2065-2066; CP at 6155.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> The referenced WPI, WPI 15.04, corresponds to the trial court's Instruction 22. CP at 6436. Instruction 22 stated:

not proximately caused damages, you can't award for plaintiffs, you have to find for the defendant. So I submit that as to proximate cause, we should stick closely with the WPI standards. Instructions outside of that when the WPIs apply are very dangerous, and *there's no need to in this case.*<sup>20</sup>

Ultimately, however, the trial court chose to give the District's proposed instruction 15—modified by the deletion of a single sentence immaterial to this appeal—as its own Instruction 19 because it "defaulted . . . to the instruction used in the *Rollins* case that the Court there appeared to confirm was an appropriate instruction."<sup>21</sup> Instruction 19 states,

In calculating a damage award, you must not include any damages that were caused by acts of Gary Shafer and not proximately caused by negligence of the Olympia School District. Any damages caused solely by Gary Shafer and not proximately caused by negligence of the Olympia School District must be segregated from and not made a part of any damage award against Olympia School District.<sup>22</sup>

On December 16, 2015, when afforded an opportunity for additional instructional objections, Petitioners again objected to Instruction 19 on the basis that it was improper under controlling law, slanted toward the defense's theory of the case, and misleading in its negative phrasing:

[A]s to the instructions that the Court will be giving, the one exception that we'll take is to Instruction No. 19, which is a *Rollins/Tegman* type instruction. We are taking exception to it because in our opinion it frames the issue in the negative and has the jury excluding damages immediately as opposed to describing in a positive fashion what they are to award. We also believe for appellate purposes that *Tegman* is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> CP at 4164; 7 RP at 1383-1385, 1391; 10 RP at 1922 (emphases added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> 10 RP at 1930; see also Rollins, 148 Wn. App. at 379-80.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> CP at 6433; Appendix C (emphasis added).

misapplied or would be misapplied in a situation like this and that the district can be liable for all damages caused by Gary Shafer as a result of owing the duty to prevent the criminal misconduct because Gary Shafer was an employee. So for those purposes, we take exception to the giving of 19.<sup>23</sup>

During trial closing argument the District's counsel exploited the misleadingly negative and one-sided nature of instruction 19 by further misrepresenting and emphasizing it:

So let's look at that. What damages can you award? Well, if you look at Instruction No. 19, "In calculating a damage award, you must not include any damages that were caused by acts of Gary Shafer."<sup>24</sup>

After the trial court failed to sustain Petitioners' objection that the District's argument "misstate[d] the law" (instead merely commenting that it had "advised the jury to make sure you read the entire sentence,") the District continued:

So you start from that premise, and here is the qualification: Any damages that were not proximately caused by the negligence of the Olympia School District, okay? So I've talked to you a lot about proximate cause. Proximate cause means that there's a cause and effect. So that gets back to what did the school district employees see or reasonably should have seen that they didn't take action on and report? That's where proximate cause comes in. And so the only damages that you can award in this case are ones that are not caused by Gary Shafer and not proximately caused by the negligence of the district.<sup>25</sup>

On December 17, the jury returned special verdict interrogatories finding that the District was both negligent and grossly negligent and that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> CP at 6155; 11 RP at 2066.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> 11 RP at 2161 (emphasis added).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>25</sup> *Id.* at 2161-2162 (emphasis added).

such negligence and gross negligence was "a proximate cause of injury or damage to the plaintiffs." The special verdict form then directed the jury, having affirmatively answered either proximate cause interrogatory, to determine Petitioners' damages. However, the jury entered "\$0" as to each Petitioner's damages. 28

### D. Motion for New Trial and Appeal

Petitioners then moved for a new trial on damages alone under CR 59 (a)(1), (a)(5), (a)(7), and (a)(9), arguing that the jury's findings of no damages were irreconcilable with its findings of gross negligence, negligence, and proximate cause, and the uncontroverted evidence of sexual abuse and damages.<sup>29</sup> The District responded that reconciliation was possible because: (1) the jury attributed the cause of all of Plaintiffs' damages to Shafer under Instruction 19 or (2) the jury rejected all of Petitioners' damages evidence.<sup>30</sup>

Ultimately, the trial court denied Petitioner's motion for a new trial, ruling that the jury's verdict was reconcilable because either the jury considered Shafer "as the sole cause" of any damages under Instruction 19 or "gave more weight" to the District's argument that Petitioners had suffered no damages at all.<sup>31</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>26</sup> CP at 6447-48; Appendix A.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup> CP at 6449.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>28</sup> *Id*.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup> CP at 6518-6521; RP (Jan. 15, 2016) at 7, 13.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup> CP at 6564-6565, 6569-6573.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup> RP (Jan. 15, 2016) at 31-32.

On appeal, Petitioners asserted that (1) the jury's award of no damages was inconsistent both with its finding of proximate causation of "injury or damage" to Petitioners and the uncontroverted evidence of their damages and (2) the trial court erred in giving instruction 19 because it was improper given the governing law, facts, and other instructions in the case; misleading given its negative phrasing; and prejudicially slanted toward the District's theory of the case.<sup>32</sup>

In upholding the jury's verdict awarding no damages despite its findings of "injury or damage" and the uncontroverted damages evidence, the Court of Appeals primarily relied on a decision of an intermediate New Jersey appellate court, *Kozma v. Starbucks Coffee Co.*, 412 N.J. Super. 319, 990 A.2d 679 (2010), for the proposition that the evidence of K.H.'s damages was "susceptible to an interpretation that minimized the monetary equivalent of [K.H.'s] pain and suffering to its vanishing point" so that "the impact . . . was so insignificant that no additional injury beyond plaintiff's preexisting condition was sustained," thus holding that the evidence supported "the jury's award of '\$0' as DH's compensation for the molestations." *K.H.*, at \* 10.

Similarly, again citing *Kozma*, the Court of Appeals reasoned that "even where several witnesses have given uncontroverted testimony"—as with the emotional pain and suffering of D.H.'s parents—it "could reasonably have been assessed by the jury not to rise to the level of upset

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>32</sup> Appendix D.

that would merit a damages recovery." *K.H.*, at \*11. Thus, despite acknowledging that this uncontroverted testimony was "evidence of emotional upset," the Court of Appeals held that the evidence "support[ed] a '\$0' verdict for DH's parents." *Id*.

Turning to Instruction 19, the Court of Appeals held that Petitioners had not preserved their arguments that the instruction was unwarranted under the law and facts and unfairly slanted toward the District's theory of the case.<sup>33</sup> Regarding Petitioners' "negative phrasing" argument, the Court of Appeals reasoned that "[Rollins] held that it was not misleading to give" an instruction like Instruction 19 under similar circumstances and, thus, "the trial court's decision that instruction 19 would be helpful to the jury and was not misleading or confusing was not unreasonable." *K.H.*, at \* 12.

#### V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

A. Review is required under RAP 13.4 (b)(1) and (b)(2) because (1) the Court of Appeals' conclusion that the award of zero damages does not render the verdict form answers inconsistent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>33</sup> As Petitioners argued to the Court of Appeals in their motion for reconsideration, the record clearly demonstrates that Petitioners sufficiently preserved both arguments. First, Petitioners' argument at the first instructional conference that there was "no need" for Instruction 19, given that Instruction 22 would allow the District to argue that Shafer was the sole cause of Petitioners' damages instead of the District, mirrors Petitioners' argument on appeal that the instruction was unwarranted and improper. Second, when the trial court afforded an opportunity for additional objections, Petitioners argued that Instruction 19 was not warranted under *Tegman* and "unfairly and prejudicially" "frame[d] the issue in the negative *and hald! the jury excluding damages immediately* as opposed to describing in a positive fashion what they are to award' and misstated the law." *K.H.*, at \* 5 (quoting CP at 6155; 11 RP at 2065-66). These were arguments that the instruction was improper under controlling law and slanted in the defense's favor. Because these contentions were arguably related to the issues raised in the trial court, the Court of Appeals erred in finding a lack of preservation. *See Mavis v. King Cty. Pub. Hosp. No. 2*, 159 Wn. App. 639, 651, 248 P.3d 558 (2011) (quoting *Lunsford v. Saberhagen Holdings, Inc.*, 139 Wn. App. 334, 338, 160 P.3d 1089 (2007)) (appellate court will consider "newly-articulated theories" "arguably related to issues raised in the trial court.") Accordingly, Petitioners request that this Court include these issues—including the Court of Appeals' preservation holdings—in its grant of review.

disregards existing Washington precedent regarding entitlement to general damages under these circumstances, and (2) in upholding Instruction 19 the Court of Appeals ignored the core holding in *Rollins* limiting the *Tegman* segregation requirement to cases where the intentional tortfeasor is a party defendant, relying instead on dicta in *Rollins* inconsistent with that core holding.

Division Two's holdings that (1) the jury could minimize or otherwise reject uncontroverted damages evidence in awarding no damages and (2) *Rollins* approved of giving a segregation of damages instruction similar to Instruction 19, are each in conflict with decisions of this Court or the Court of Appeals, requiring review under RAP 13.4 (b)(1) and (b)(2).

Regarding the inconsistent verdict issue, this Court long ago rejected arguments that a jury simply could minimize or reject uncontroverted damages and award no compensation, concluding:

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