# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/13/2018 1:46 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 95342-2

Court of Appeals No. 48583-4-II

### SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

K. H., et al.,

Appellants,

VS.

#### OLYMPIA SCHOOL DISTRICT,

Respondent.

#### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

\_\_\_\_\_\_

MASTERS LAW GROUP, P.L.L.C. Kenneth W. Masters, WSBA No. 22278 241 Madison Avenue North Bainbridge Island, WA 98110 (206) 780-5033 ken@appeal-law.com Attorneys for Respondent

#### **

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

#### REASONS WHY THIS COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW

A. Review is unwarranted where the jury's \$0 verdict is both inviolate and wholly consistent with the evidence.

The Washington State Constitution, art. 1, § 21, "protects the jury's role to determine damages." *Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 112 Wn.2d 636, 646, 771 P.2d 711 (1989).<sup>2</sup> "The jury's role in determining noneconomic damages is perhaps even more essential." *Id.*<sup>3</sup> This jury's noneconomic-damages determination thus "receives constitutional protection from article 1, section 21." *Id.* at 648. It must remain inviolate. *Id.* at 656. Therefore,

This court will not willingly assume that the jury did not fairly and objectively consider the evidence and the contentions of the parties relative to the issues before it. The inferences to be drawn from the evidence are for the jury and not for this court. The credibility of witnesses and the weight to be given to the evidence are matters within the province of the jury and even if convinced that a wrong verdict has been rendered, the reviewing court will not substitute its judgment for that of the jury, so long as there was evidence which, if believed, would support the verdict rendered. [Italics added in **Burnside**.]

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Citing James v. Robeck, 79 Wn.2d 864, 869, 490 P.2d 878 (1971); Worthington v. Caldwell, 65 Wn.2d 269, 273, 396 P.2d 797 (1964); Anderson v. Dalton, 40 Wn.2d 894, 897, 246 P.2d 853 (1952); Kellerher v. Porter, 29 Wn.2d 650, 189 P.2d 223 (1948); Walker v. McNeill, 17 Wash. 582, 592-95, 50 P. 518 (1897); Dacres v. Oregon Ry. & Nav. Co., 1 Wash. 525, 20 P. 601 (1889).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Citing and discussing *Bingaman v. Grays Harbor Comm'ty Hosp.*, 103 Wn.2d 831, 835, 699 P.2d 1230 (1985); *Lyster v. Metzger*, 68 Wn.2d 216, 224-25, 412 P.2d 340 (1966); *Power v. Union Pac. R.R.*, 655 F.2d 1380, 1388 (9th Cir. 1981).

Burnside v. Simpson Paper Co., 123 Wn.2d 93, 108, 864 P.2d 937 (1994) (citations omitted) (quoted in Unpub. Op. at 17-19, citing Estate of Stalkup v. Vancouver Clinic, Inc., P.S., 145 Wn. App. 572, 586, 187 P.3d 291 (2008), quoting Burnside, supra, quoting State v. O'Connell, 83 Wn.2d 797, 839, 523 P.2d 872 (1974)).

Here, the School District presented ample substantial evidence that during the four years following the late-2010 bus incident, no one, including D.H., her teachers, her doctors, or even her mother and father, reported any appreciable injuries, damage, or even untoward effects from the incident. Unpub. Op. at 6-9, 15-20; BA 5-9, 21-25. As the appellate court properly concluded, substantial evidence thus supports a "\$0" verdict both for DH and for her parents. Unpub. Op. at 19, 20. Simply put, nothing "foreclosed the jury from determining that the Appellants had suffered injuries or damages yet assessing that the legally compensable value of the injury or damages was '\$0'." Unpub. Op. at 16.

The appellate court correctly upheld the jury's noneconomicdamages verdict. It is supported by substantial evidence. Nothing justifies reversing it. Review is unwarranted.

#### B. Petitioners' *Palmer* argument is still incorrect.

Petitioners first argue – yet again – that this Court *requires* juries to award damages any time plaintiffs put on evidence of "uncontroverted damages." Petition for Review (PFR) at 13-14 (citing *Ide v. Stolenow*, 47 Wn.2d 847, 851, 289 P.2d 1007 (1955); *Palmer v. Jensen*, 132 Wn.2d 193, 200, 937 P.2d 597 (1997); *Washburn v. City of Fed. Way*, 169 Wn. App. 588, 283 P.3d 567 (2012), *aff'd on other grnds*, 178 Wn.2d 732 (2013); *Fahndrich v. Williams*, 147 Wn.2d 306, 307-07, 194 P.3d 1005 (2008)). The copious authority cited above holding the jury's noneconomic-damages award constitutionally inviolate casts conclusive doubt on this claim.

Moreover, plaintiffs' damages evidence quite obviously was controverted. See, e.g., Unpub. Op. at 6-9, 15-20; BA 5-9, 21-25. The trial and appellate courts correctly determined that the jury properly found insufficient evidence of compensable damages where, as here, no one identified any injuries for over four years after the alleged incident – despite many doctor's visits due to DH's Trisomy X condition – and the parents made such claims only after meeting with plaintiffs' counsel to file a lawsuit. The child has never complained of any injuries.

And of course, none of the cases Petitioners cite requires a noneconomic-damages award where, as here, no special damages were awarded, and the plaintiffs' evidence was disputed. On the contrary, see, e.g., Lopez v. Salgado-Guadarama, 130 Wn. App. 87, 92-93, 122 P.3d 733 (2005) (distinguishing *Palmer* where, as here, disputed damages evidence justified \$0 noneconomic damages); Minger v. Reinhard Dist. Co., Inc., 87 Wn. App. 941, 946, 943 P.2d 400, 402 (1997) (affirming jury finding of liability and proximate cause, but awarding no damages); Hei v. Holzer, 181 P.3d 489, 492 (Id. 2008) (negligent supervision proved, but no special damages proved, and general damages disputed, so \$0 verdict upheld); Kozma v. Starbucks Coffee Co., 990 A.2d 679, 684 (N.J.App. 2010) (jury found negligence and proximate cause, but properly awarded \$0, where pain and suffering may have been negligible); *Patras v. Syphax*, 887 A.2d 84, 89 (Md.App. 2005), *cert.* granted, 900 A.2d 206, cert. dismissed, 2006 Md. LEXIS 552 (2006) (jury found negligence and proximate cause, but awarded \$0; "jury could have found that as a result of the accident [plaintiff] had suffered some injury, but he nevertheless had failed to meet his burden of proof in showing the amount that would compensate him for his injury as to any particular item of damage").

Petitioners rely on the well-known decisions in *Palmer* and *Fahndrich v. Williams*, 147 Wn. App. 302, 194 P.3d 1005 (2008). As they admitted below, however, these opinions are well known for the proposition that where, unlike here, a jury awards special damages, it cannot award \$0 in general damages, if there is evidence of pain and suffering. *Id. Palmer* itself affirms that there is no *per se* rule mandating a general damages award to every plaintiff sustaining an injury. 132 Wn.2d at 203. And *Fahndrich* notes that where the evidence could support a finding that the injury was minimal, a jury could award \$0. 147 Wn. App. at 308. These cases do not help Petitioners.

Finally, Petitioners rely on *Ide* and *Washburn*, *supra*. Both of those courts simply affirmed a trial court's *grant of a new trial* due to an inadequate damages award. 47 Wn.2d 847; 169 Wn. App. 588. They are inapposite: this trial court declined to grant a new trial.

In sum, Petitioners' claim that this decision conflicts with the above decisions is incorrect. No basis exists to grant review.

C. Petitioners (a) waived their substantive *Tegman/Rollins* objections in the trial court; (2) fail to challenge the Court of Appeals' holding that they did so; (3) fail now to raise their only challenge preserved in the appellate court; and (4) raise only new substantive arguments not raised in any lower court; in sum, <u>nothing</u> is properly before this Court on this issue.

In the trial court, Petitioners objected to Instruction 19, the so-called *Tegman/Rollins* instruction (approved – verbatim – in *Rollins*) solely on the grounds that it was "unfairly prejudicial" and "frames the issue in the negative and has the jury excluding damages immediately as opposed to describing in a positive fashion what they are to award", misstating the law. Unpub. Op. at 22 (quoting CP 6155; 11 RP 2066). These are *drafting* objections, which are left to the trial court's discretion. *Id.* at 21 (citing *Terrell v. Hamilton*, 190 Wn. App. 489, 498, 358 P.3d 453 (2015)). The appellate court properly found no abuse of discretion. *Id.* at 23-24. Petitioners do not challenge that holding here, so those objections are waived.

But the appellate court also properly held that the Petitioners had waived their *substantive arguments* regarding the *Tegman/Rollins* instruction by not raising them in the trial court. Unpub. Op. at 21-23. The Petitioners do not challenge that holding. See PFR at 3-4. Petitioners *Tegman/Rollins* arguments are not properly before this Court. *See, e.g.*, RAP 13.7(b) (Court will consider

only issues raised in PFR); *Koenig v. Thurston County*, 175 Wn.2d 837, 857, 287 P.3d 523 (2012) (same); *Wood v. Postelthwaite*, 82 Wn.2d 387, 388, 510 P.2d 1109 (1973) (same); *Zukowsky v. Brown*, 79 Wn.2d 586, 588, 488 P.2d 269 (1971) (same).

Nor were their substantive arguments they do raise in their PFR raised in the appellate court. *See, e.g.*, BA 6-7 (Issue 3, which raises only the "negative phrasing" issue discussed above – which is not raised in their PFR).<sup>4</sup> This Court will not consider issues first raised in a PFR. RAP 13.7(b); *Adoption of T.A.W.*, 186 Wn.2d 828, 861 n.20, 383 P.3d 492 (2016) (citing *Crystal Ridge Homeowners Ass'n v. City of Bothell*, 182 Wn.2d 665, 678, 343 P.3d 746 (2015) ("This court generally does not consider issues, even constitutional ones, raised first in a petition for review") (citing *State v. Benn*, 161 Wn.2d 256, 262 n.1, 165 P.3d 1232 (2007))).

And their new substantive arguments are incorrect.

Petitioners' claims that the appellate court misunderstood or disregarded language in *Rollins* is unsupported by anything in the text of the Unpublished Opinion. Rather, it quite clearly stated that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Petitioners raised *different* substantive arguments in their Motion for Reconsideration, but they do not seek review of the ruling denying reconsideration, so those arguments are also waived.

the *Rollins* plaintiff "sought recovery solely from Metro and not from the assailants who intentionally attacked her." Unpub. Op. at 23. That is what makes *Rollins* very similar to this case, which is why the trial court gave the *Rollins* instruction.

The plain language of *Rollins* also contradicts Petitioners' farfetched attempts to challenge *Rollins* for the first time here. As in this case (in Jury Inst. 22) the jury in *Rollins* 

was instructed that plaintiffs had to prove that [the sole defendant] was negligent, that [its] negligence was a proximate cause of plaintiffs' injury, that there may be more than one proximate cause of an injury, and that its verdict should be for [the defendant] if it found the sole proximate cause of injury was a cause other than [its] negligence.

148 Wn. App. at 379. This instruction went unchallenged in *Rollins*and in the case at bar, at least as to its substance.

The law of this case is that the District is not liable for damages solely caused by the intentional tortfeasor, Shafer. *State v. Ng*, 110 Wn.2d 32, 39, 750 P.2d 632 (1988) (unchallenged instructions are the law of the case); *Washburn*, 169 Wn. App. at 600 (same in civil cases). That disposes of any substantive arguments Petitioners wish to bring – however new and novel.

Also as here (in Jury Inst. 19) the *Rollins* jury was instructed "about calculating damages" (consistent with Jury Inst. 22):

In calculating a damage award, you must not include any damages that were caused by acts of [third parties] and not proximately caused by negligence of the defendant. Any damages caused solely by the [third party] and not proximately caused by negligence of defendant . . . must be segregated from and not made a part of any damage award against [defendant].

148 Wn. App. at 379. This is a *damages* instruction on *calculating* damages consistent with the unchallenged law of the case stated in Jury Inst. 22. There was no error in giving this instruction.

And thus, as here, *Rollins* correctly held that the trial court did not abuse its discretion in so instructing the jury. *Id.* at 382 ("The instructions . . . properly stated the law. The court did not abuse its discretion"). Nor did this trial court abuse its discretion. Nor did the appellate court err in so holding.

Consistent with their efforts to raise as many unpreserved and new arguments as possible, Petitioners raise (entirely in a footnote) that the standard of review is *not what they argued it is on appeal* (abuse of discretion) but rather is *de novo*. PFR 18 n.35, 20 n.36 (citing *Anfinson v. FedEx Grnd. Pkg. Sys., Inc.*, 174 Wn.2d 851, 874-77, 281 P.3d 289 (2012)). It almost goes without saying that this Court did not change the long-standing standard of review. Rather, it held that the instruction in *Anfinson* "Clearly Misstated the Applicable Law." 174 Wn.2d at 871-74. That errors of law are

reviewed *de novo* needs no citation, but *Anfinson* itself says it. *Id.* at 860. These Petitioners simply never raised a legal error, and thus conceded that their assignments of error are reviewed for an abuse of discretion. No abuse occurred.

## D. Petitioners merely rehash their incorrect and unpreserved RAP 13.4(b)(1) & (2) arguments under (b)(4).

Careful study of Petitioners' rather long issue statements reveals that they raise only two issues – (1) an unprecedented claim that juries *must* award damages if plaintiffs ask for them; and (2) the unchallenged *Tegman/Rollins* instruction; but they do raise each one twice. PFR 3-4. They do not improve with repetition.

There is no error in the Unpublished Opinion following the law on the jury's constitutionally-protected role in determining general damages, or in affirming a jury instruction previously approved by Division One, to which the plaintiffs did not substantively object. There is, therefore, no issue of substantial public interest for this Court to determine. This Court should deny review.

#### **CONCLUSION**

The Court should deny discretionary review.